
MEETING: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S 
SERVICES AND SAFEGUARDING)

DATE: Tuesday, 9th July 2019

TIME: 6.30 pm

VENUE: Committee Room - Bootle Town Hall, Trinity Road, Bootle, L20 7AE

Member

Councillor

Substitute

Councillor
Cllr. Paula Murphy (Chair)
Cllr. Clare Carragher (Vice-Chair)
Cllr. Maria Bennett
Cllr. Leo Evans
Cllr. Pat Keith
Cllr. Michael Pitt
Cllr. Yvonne Sayers
Cllr. Paula Spencer
Cllr. Carla Thomas
Cllr. Veronica Webster
Mrs Sandra Cain, Independent 
Advisory Member
Stuart Harrison, Diocese
Father Des Seddon, Archdiocese
Karen Christie, Healthwatch
Victoria Ellis-Jones, PGR
Machalla McDermott, PGR

Cllr. Janis Blackburne
Cllr. Robert Brennan
Cllr. David Irving
Cllr. Iain Brodie - Browne
Cllr. Daniel Lewis
Cllr. Denise Dutton
Cllr. Liz Dowd
Cllr. Christine Howard
Cllr. John Kelly
Cllr. Michael O'Brien

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Debbie Campbell, Senior Democratic Services 
Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2254
Fax: 0151 934 2034
E-mail: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 
from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 
the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3.  Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 14)
Minutes of the meeting held on 19 March 2019.

4.  Review of Health Services for Children Looked After & 
Safeguarding in Sefton - Update on Actions Being 
Undertaken

(Pages 15 - 
26)

Joint presentation by NHS South Sefton Clinical 
Commissioning Group and NHS Sefton and Formby Clinical 
Commissioning Group, providing an update on actions being 
undertaken since the Review.

5.  Public Health Annual Report (Pages 27 - 
34)

Report of the Head of Health and Wellbeing.

Prior to consideration of the above report, a short video on 
the latest Public Health Annual Report, which this year takes 
the form of an animation, will be shown to the Committee.

6.  Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
Provision Working Group - Final Report

(Pages 35 - 
60)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer.

Prior to consideration of the above report, a presentation by 



the Specialist Transport Manager will be provided at the 
meeting.

7.  Cabinet Member Report (Pages 61 - 
66)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer.

8.  Work Programme Key Decision Forward Plan (Pages 67 - 
86)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer.



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL IN”.

45

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
(CHILDREN'S SERVICES AND SAFEGUARDING)

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Murphy (in the Chair)
Councillors Brodie-Browne (Substitute Member for 
Councillor Hands), Keith, Brenda O’Brien and 
Yvonne Sayers

ALSO PRESENT: Karen Christie, Healthwatch Representative
Victoria Ellis-Jones, Parent Governor Representative
Machalla McDermott, Parent Governor 
Representative
Councillor J. J. Kelly, Cabinet Member – Children, 
Schools and Safeguarding
1 member of the press

41. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Hands, Pitt and his 
Substitute Councillor Jones, Spencer, Webster and her Substitute 
Councillor Brennan; and Father Des Seddon.

42. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

43. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2019, be confirmed as 
a correct record.

44. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE PREVIOUS MINUTES 

Review of Health Services for Children Looked After and 
Safeguarding in Sefton

Further to Minute No. 29 (3) of 29 January 2019, the Chair reported that 
the Sefton Clinical Commissioning Groups had not yet provided figures on 
prescribed waiting times for services, as they had offered to hold an 
informal briefing session for Members of the Committee, in order to explain 
the data within the context, and to address any questions arising.

RESOLVED:

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND SAFEGUARDING) - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

46

That the Sefton Clinical Commissioning Groups be requested to provide 
the figures on prescribed waiting times for services, including where they 
had not been met, and forward these, in the first instance, to the Senior 
Democratic Services Officer, for circulation to Members of the Committee, 
as requested previously, and the possibility of a briefing session to explain 
the data be discussed further at the next meeting of the Committee, 
scheduled for 9 July 2019.

45. CORPORATE PARENTING ANNUAL REVIEW REPORT 

Further to Minute No. 41 of 30 January 2018, the Committee considered 
the report of the Head of Children’s Social Care on an evaluation of 
activities of the Sefton Corporate Parenting Board for 2018.

The report indicated that the Corporate Parenting Board was a multi-
agency Board chaired by the Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and 
Families and focussed on improving the experiences of children who were 
looked after and also care leavers in Sefton. The evaluation report was 
produced on an annual basis and provided Members with an overview of 
the activities of the Sefton Corporate Parenting Board, in order to offer 
assurances that the Council was fulfilling its corporate parenting 
responsibilities. The Corporate Parenting Board Evaluation of Activities for 
2018 was attached to the report.

The M.A.D. (Making a Difference) Group was fully engaged with the 
Board.

Members of the Committee asked questions/raised matters on the 
following issues:-

 Was the One Vision Housing Local Protocol monitored and were 
the outcomes successful?

This was offered to young care leavers who were ready to live 
independently. The Head of Children’s Social Care undertook to 
obtain additional information.

 Was there any feedback available on outcomes for the University of 
Liverpool Looked After Children and Care Leavers’ Offer?

The Head of Children’s Social Care undertook to obtain additional 
information and to request greater detail within future Annual 
Reviews.

 How many young people participated from the M.A.D. (Making a 
Difference) Group?

About 5-6 young people were very engaged and active from the 
Group, although there was a larger number behind regular 
attendees.

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND SAFEGUARDING) - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

47

 How were younger children represented?

A young people activity group was currently being engaged and the 
M.A.D. Group had met with them. Succession planning for 
representation had been discussed at the Corporate Parenting 
Board.

 What other methods were adopted to reach a wider age range?

A variety of platforms and methods were employed to reach a wider 
age range including an annual pledge survey.

 What was the age range for representation?

There was no age limit as such, rather engagement was roughly 
separated into secondary and primary school levels.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the contents of the report be noted; and

(2) the Head of Children’s Social Care be requested to provide 
additional information to the Senior Democratic Services Officer, for 
circulation to Members of the Committee, on the following:-

 the One Vision Housing Local Protocol; and
 the University of Liverpool Looked After Children and Care Leavers’ 

Offer.

46. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN PERFORMANCE 
DASHBOARD 

Further to Minute No. 30 of 5 December 2017, the Committee considered 
the report of the Director of Social Care and Health updating Members on 
the performance aligned to actions in the Children and Young People’s 
Plan. The report indicated that performance was monitored in line with 
Council priorities and associated inspection frameworks and that the 
Dashboard was aligned to the Children and Young People’s Plan. The 
current operational Dashboard was attached to the report at Appendix 1 
and illustrated Sefton’s performance compared to national (England), 
regional (North West) and Liverpool City Region averages against 
measures within the following priorities:-

 Priority 1 – Ensure all children and young people have a positive 
educational experience;

 Priority 2 – Ensure all children are supported to have a healthy start 
in life;

 Priority 3 – Improving the quality of life of children with additional 
needs and vulnerabilities; and

 Priority 4 – Ensure positive emotional health and wellbeing.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND SAFEGUARDING) - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

48

Performance improvements had been achieved in Sefton in certain areas. 
However, there were still particular areas where improvements needed to 
be made.

Members of the Committee asked questions/raised matters on the 
following issues:-

 The good level of development (GLD) for boys at Early Years’ 
Foundation Stage was 12 percentage points lower than for girls, 
which appeared to be a large gap.

The tendency was for a big gap in GLD between girls and boys at 
early years which broadened slightly over time. This could be 
discussed further under Minute No. 48 below.

 Numbers of immunisations were decreasing.

Programmes of immunisations were commissioned by NHS 
England and it was necessary to maintain promotion and target 
vulnerable groups. Anti-vaccine campaigns appeared to play a part 
in the decline. The Council’s Public Health Team could analyse the 
issues behind the figures.

 Breastfeeding rates appeared to be performing well and work was 
undertaken with Family Centres. Further information could be 
provided in due course.

 The proportion of Looked After Children with dental checks could be 
improved.

There could be delays occurring in ensuring that checks were 
accurately recorded on the system. Some children had phobias 
about visiting a dentist and a lot of work was undertaken to ensure 
that they attended appointments.

RESOLVED:

That the Children and Young People’s Plan Performance Dashboard be 
received and the performance be noted.

47. SCHOOL ORGANISATION AND SCHOOL PLACES 

Further to Minute No. 49 of 20 March 2018, the Committee considered the 
report of the Head of Education on school organisation and school places 
data by geographical area. The report set out the background to the 
matter, together with details of Government policy; local authority statutory 
duties; the Government’s vision for local authorities regarding school 
places; factors affecting pupil place planning; education reform; school 
funding reform; demographic issues; and planning areas based on 
geographical and ward boundaries.

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND SAFEGUARDING) - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

49

Details of how pupil place planning numbers were determined and the next 
planning period projections were included within the Pupil Place Plan 
2017/18 to 2022/23, attached to the report. The Plan set out the structure 
and characteristics of school provision; trends in pupil numbers; 
methodology used for forecasting pupil numbers; primary pupil numbers; 
secondary pupil numbers; Sefton’s planning areas; pupil projections by 
planning area; and empty places and surplus places.

Members of the Committee asked questions/raised matters on the 
following issues:-

 Pupil numbers at Formby primary schools were reducing. Could the 
schools concerned reduce their admission numbers?

Conversations would need to be held between the Local Authority 
and the schools concerned. Budgets for all schools were under 
pressure and any deficits in budgets would come back to the 
Authority. Any additional places available at Formby secondary 
schools in particular, could impact on preferences made for pupils 
from the Crosby and south Southport areas.

 Was Brexit having an impact on reducing pupil numbers, 
particularly in Southport schools?

Rises in predicted pupil places were slowing, particularly in 
Southport, although there was a lack of data available regarding the 
impact of Brexit.

 How quickly could schools amend their admission criteria 
arrangements?

Academies could increase their admission numbers. Consultations 
would need to take place to decrease admission numbers. The 
Local Authority held annual consultations on school admissions and 
schools were asked whether they wished to amend the admission 
criteria, etc. Any capital funding applications for growth had to go 
through the usual Council processes.

 What formula was used to factor-in pupil yield from housing 
developments with planning permission?

The Council adopted a formula used by all Local Authorities where 
numbers of primary and secondary places required were calculated 
for every 100 houses. Types of housing developments were also 
factored-in.

 How many schools had closed in Sefton?

In recent years St. Ambrose Barlow Catholic High School, 
Netherton, had closed, as had St. George of England High School, 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND SAFEGUARDING) - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

50

Bootle; and St. Wilfrid’s Catholic High School, Litherland. Bootle 
High School had closed, but pupils were merged with Litherland 
High School. Sand Dunes Nursery, Seaforth, was to close in August 
2019.

 With the drift towards Crosby schools by pupils in the Bootle area, 
were there plans to extend any of the Crosby schools?

Some work would be undertaken at Great Crosby Catholic Primary 
School. It was a difficult balance not to undermine other viable 
schools.

RESOLVED:

That the information contained within the report be noted.

48. SCHOOL PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

Further to Minute No. 39 of 30 January 2018, the Committee considered 
the report of the Head of Education, providing an overview of the 
performance in Sefton schools at key stages up to Key Stage 4 (KS4).

The report set out the background to the matter; the results of Ofsted 
inspections in both primary and secondary schools; the profile for the Early 
Years’ Foundation Stage (EYFS); the Year 1 phonics measure; outcomes 
for KS1, KS2 and KS4; key Local authority actions being undertaken at 
primary level; key Local Authority actions being undertaken at secondary 
level; and the school improvement support system in Sefton.

The report indicated that over 98% of primary school children in Sefton 
attended a “good” or “outstanding” school. In secondary schools, less than 
45% of pupils attended a “good” or “outstanding” school and there were no 
“good” or “outstanding” Catholic secondary schools in Sefton. Local 
Authority school improvement funding had only been provided by the 
government until the end of the academic year and the future local 
authority role in school improvement was uncertain.

Members of the Committee asked questions/raised matters on the 
following issues:-

 Further to a matter raised under Minute No. 46 above, the 
difference in levels of achievement between boys and girls under 
the good level of development (GLD) at Early Years’ Foundation 
stage was discussed.

The Early Years Foundation Stage set standards for the learning, 
development and care of all children up to the age of 5. All staff 
would go through the same training. Ofsted inspected and regulated 
services, with a view to ensuring the required standards were 
achieved and maintained.

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND SAFEGUARDING) - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

51

 The majority of secondary schools in the Borough required 
improvement or were inadequate and pupil absence was a problem. 
How was the school-led improvement system, with schools working 
in clusters and stronger schools within the Borough supporting 
schools that required improvement, progressing?

A number of schools were linked together, although this had 
created some issues for leading schools. Attempts were being 
made to improve performance, particularly in schools in the south of 
the Borough. Parents tended to attempt to have their children 
admitted into nearby schools with “good” ratings.

In addition, persistent pupil absenteeism was an issue and a 
workshop had been held to share experience, with a view to 
producing a tool kit for schools. The Education Welfare Service 
carried out a lot of work with parents on this issue. Attempts were 
made to try to get children more engaged with school and to reduce 
bullying, in order to make pupils feel safe at school. Persistent 
absence could be considered as a potential topic for a working 
group review.

 There was a need to retain good teachers.

The Year 1 phonics measure illustrated that the majority of Sefton 
children were meeting the expected standard. Key Stage 2 
outcomes were also good. Data did not always reflect school 
performance.

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

49. CABINET MEMBER REPORT 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer in relation to the most recent report of the Cabinet Member – 
Children, Schools and Safeguarding for the period January - March 2019. 
The report outlined information on the following:-

 Determination of the 2020 Admission Arrangements for Sefton 
Primary and Secondary Schools;

 Identification of Schools for (Improvement) Support Consultation; 
and

 Funding Bid – Supporting Families Against Youth Crime.

Councillor J.J. Kelly, Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and 
Safeguarding, was in attendance at the meeting to present his Update 
Report and highlight particular aspects of it.

RESOLVED:

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND SAFEGUARDING) - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

52

That the Cabinet Member update report be noted.

50. WORK PROGRAMME KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (1) submitting the Committee’s Work Programme for the remainder 
of the Municipal Year 2018/19 and noting that any additional agenda items 
requested could be included within the Work Programme for 2019/20; (2) 
noting the progress to date regarding the Joint Working Group for Post-16 
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Provision; and (3) noting 
that there were no items for pre-scrutiny within the current Key Decision 
Forward Plan that fell under the remit of the Committee, on this occasion.

A Work Programme for 2018/19 was set out at Appendix A to the report, to 
be considered, along with any additional items to be included and agreed.

The report set out progress to date made by the Joint Working Group for 
Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Provision, 
comprised of Members of this Committee and Members of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills).

There were no items for pre-scrutiny within the current Key Decision 
Forward Plan that fell under the remit of the Committee, on this occasion.

Members of the Committee asked questions/raised matters on the 
following issues:-

 Details of the site visit undertaken by the Joint Working Group for 
Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
Provision, were reported to the Committee.

 Further to Minute No. 20 of 25 September 2018, the Chair reported 
on a front-line visit she had undertaken, in order to enhance 
Members’ understanding of front-line delivery of Children’s Social 
Care.

 Consideration could be given to a possible working group and the 
Work Programme for 2019/20.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the Work Programme for 2018/19, as set out in Appendix A to the 
report, be agreed;

(2) the progress to date regarding the Joint Working Group for Post-16 
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Provision be 
noted; and

(3) the fact that there are no items for pre-scrutiny within the current 
Key Decision Forward Plan that fall under the remit of the 
Committee, on this occasion, be noted.

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND SAFEGUARDING) - TUESDAY 19TH MARCH, 2019

53Page 13

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Care Quality Commission - Review of health 

services for Children Looked After and 

Safeguarding in Sefton  

Fiona Taylor, chief officer

Karen Garside, designated nurse for safeguarding children

Helen Case, designated nurse for children in care

July 2019

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 4



Updates since last presentation to 

O&SC
• Action plan presented to CCG Governing Bodies 

• Quarterly Task and Finish Groups chaired by chief 
officer and designated nurses (14.2.19 & 9.5.19)

• Two further days with individual providers to review 
narrative against progress and evidence 

• Five workshops meetings plus a follow up meeting 
to support areas 

• Action plan resubmitted to CQC 4th July 2019

P
age 16

A
genda Item

 4



Strengthened areas include:

• Primary Care

– Safeguarding Leads Meeting

– Audits of GP referrals to Social Care

– Strengthened links by Named GP with 0-19 

service, Safeguarding Unit and MASH Service 

Managers

– Data cleanse of CP alerts and notifications

P
age 17

A
genda Item

 4



• Assurance Processes

– Strengthened KPI framework including 

Commissioning Standards and Quality Site 

Visits

– Triangulation with LSCB Section 11 data and 

LA Safeguarding Unit Quality Assurance data

– Audits eg referrals, receipt of minutes

P
age 18

A
genda Item

 4



• Maternity Services

– Introduction of a home visit in antenatal 

schedule

– Introduction of mandatory routine enquiry at 

each consultation

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 4



• Looked After Children

– Development of a multiagency LAC health 

collaborative

– Improved quality and timeliness of review 

health assessments for LAC

– Greater oversight of the ‘health’ of the LAC 

population

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 4



Progress against 245 actions 

Section Number of 

sub-actions 

Number

Green 

Jan19

Number 

Green July 

19

Number Red

Jan 19

Number Red 

July 19

Number not 

yet due

1 46 20 41 0 4 1

2 14 1 12 0 2 0

3 8 4 7 0 1 0

4 10 6 9 0 1 0

5 24 17 23 0 1 0

6 3 0 2 0 1 0

7 3 2 3 0 - -

8 3 0 1 0 2 0

9* 2 2 - - - -

10 15 5 14 0 1 0

11* 8 2 8 0 - -

12 39 17 36 0 3 0

13 5 2 4 0 1 0

14 4 0 2 0 1 1

15 61 15 49 0 5 3

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 4



23 sub actions remain red  
• 12 are linked with auditing of new process or 

systems

• 2 relate to Public Health Commissioners gaining 
assurance from providers 

• 3 involve changes to commissioning arrangements 

• 1 is awaiting ratification of an amended Pan Mersey 
policy 

• 1 where provider has indicated further strengthening 
of process could be made 

P
age 22

A
genda Item

 4



continued…
• 1 where processes being embedded internally but 

which need sharing within internal governance 
arrangements

• 1 whereby further assurance being sought by the 
CCG

• 1 new arrangements made but have not yet been 
implemented 

• 1 partially completed but further discussion with LA 
required 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 4



Anticipated dates for completion

Of the 23 sub actions that remain outstanding:

• 16 are due to be completed in Q2 (July, Aug, Sept)

• 5 are due to be completed in Q3 (Oct, Nov, Dec)

P
age 24

A
genda Item

 4



Areas of Learning 

• Over-optimism of timescales identified within initial 

action plan 

• Need time for changes in process to embed before 

audit undertaken

• Coordinating multidisciplinary engagement and 

attendance across wide footprint of services

P
age 25

A
genda Item

 4



Next Steps  
• Focus on impact and outcomes – what difference 

has been made?

• Audits to further support and reinforce evidence 
from the providers 

• CCG validation and quality visits – test out changes 

• Await response from CQC regarding action plan 
submitted 4th July 2019

• Further quarterly Task & Finish group to oversee 
continuing progress

P
age 26

A
genda Item

 4



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Children’s 
Services and 
Safeguarding)

Date of Meeting: Tuesday 9 July 
2019

Subject: Public Health Annual Report

Report of: Head of Health and 
Wellbeing

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The purpose of this report is to provide information about the preparation, content and 
plans for dissemination for the Public Health Annual Report (PHAR) 2018/19 on the 
issue of Air Quality in Sefton. This PHAR is the independent annual report of the 
Director of Public Health and is a statutory duty.

Recommendation(s):

(1) Note and comment upon the PHAR as presented and plans to promote this report

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The PHAR is the independent report of the Director of Public Health.  Improving air 
quality is priority for Sefton Council and Sefton residents alike. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not applicable. The PHAR is a legal requirement. Communicating clearly about air 
quality and the steps being taken to reduce air pollution in Sefton is an important aspect 
of our work on this issue.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

Not Applicable

(B) Capital Costs

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



Not Applicable
Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

This report has been financed from within existing resource and the main inputs have 
been staff time of officers in Public Health, Communications and Graphics teams.

Legal Implications:

The Public Health Annual Report is a statutory duty on Directors of Public Health

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. An important reason for choosing animation as a 
medium for this report is to maximise accessibility.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:

This report provides clear information about people who are most at risk of 
experiencing health problems associated with air pollution (older people, babies and 
children and people with pre-existing health conditions) and provides simple and 
effective advice that people can follow to lower pollution and reduce exposure.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

It is anticipated that this report can support and enable community engagement and 
action on air quality, including behaviour change, and community led initiatives.

Commission, broker and provide core services:

Not applicable

Place – leadership and influencer:

The report sets out clear priorities that the Council will pursue over the coming year, 
and also includes a set of supportive ‘calls to action’ for key stakeholders including 
schools, the NHS, other organisations and businesses and the Voluntary and 
Community Sector.

Drivers of change and reform:

Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Not applicable

Greater income for social investment: 

Page 28

Agenda Item 5



Not applicable
Cleaner Greener:

This report gives a very clear endorsement of the value Sefton Council places on 
protecting and enhancing the quality of the environment, and the direct links between 
healthy places and healthy people.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5689/19) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD 4813/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Community engagement in August to develop a Sefton community submission to the 
Government’s Public Consultation on its Clean Air Strategy, and a focus group in 
January to look specifically at the content and outline of the PHAR have been used to 
inform this report.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

To note this report is presented for information. Decision process is not applicable.

Contact Officer: Helen Armitage, Matthew Ashton
Telephone Number: 07816066317 or 0151 934 3151
Email Address: helen.armitage@sefton.gov.uk, 

matthew.ashton@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Requirements and purpose of the Public Health Annual Report

The Public Health Annual Report (PHAR) is a statutory requirement upon Directors of 
Public Health. It is an independent report on one or several aspects of health in the local 
population. In recent years, PHARs have increasingly been used to advocate for public 
health priorities or the needs of specific groups, to generate momentum for change 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



around an under-recognised population health concern, and to highlight the value of 
public health perspectives.

There is an expectation that a PHAR should include health statistics but be presented in 
an accessible, public-facing format, typically accompanied by lots of pictures, simple 
graphics, and brief case studies to illustrate local successes.

A typical structure comprises a foreword by the DPH, with sections setting out: the scale 
and nature of the issue, positive work already taking place, opportunities presented by 
public health evidence and local assets, future recommendations and a call to action, 
with brief reflections on progress made following the previous PHAR.

Many areas have taken the decision to publish primarily online with print copies available 
on request. Some councils have experimented with films or animations e.g. last year’s 
PHAR on the Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health of Sefton’s Children and Young 
People, which was short-listed for a national award.

2. Air Quality in Sefton

2.1 Rationale

The Director of Public Health’s Annual Report for 2018/19 focuses on the issue of air 
quality. This topic was selected for several reasons;

- Health problems caused by air pollution are falling in Sefton as air quality 
improves, but this remains a significant population health issue

- Improving air quality is a top priority for many residents, particularly those living in 
or close to air quality management areas in the south of the borough. At the same 
time, there is recognition of a need for awareness-raising activity elsewhere in 
Sefton

- Sefton Council has put in place a wide range of measures to improve air quality, 
often ahead of other local authority areas, but this type of work is not always 
visible 

- Nationally, air quality has become more high profile, both in the media and in 
national policy following publication of the National Clean Air Strategy, and there 
is now stronger evidence on the harm caused by poor air quality

2.2 Progress

Following positive feedback on the use of a film format for last year’s PHAR, a decision 
was taken by the Air Quality Cabinet Members Reference Group, chaired by Cllr Moncur 
and Cllr Lappin, to present this report in an animated style. 

     The animation has been produced by our own Graphics Team. The aim is to present 
complex information on a sensitive subject in an accessible, engaging and transparent 
format, which is easy to disseminate and can reach a broad audience.

As previously, the Youtube element of the PHAR is accompanied by a short pdf booklet 
with further information and links to other resources.

2.3 Content 

Page 30

Agenda Item 5



Whilst, the Public Health Annual Report is the independent report of the Director of 
Public Health, the intention is to emphasise the essentially collaborative aspect of Sefton 
Council’s work to improve air quality.

The content has been informed by previous and subsequent public engagement to 
develop a Sefton Community Response to the Government’s Draft Clean Air Strategy, 
which has provided valuable insights about what people want to know and how they wish 
to receive this information. 

In addition, evidence-based guidance and research carried out by the Department of the 
Farming and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) on how to communicate effectively about 
environmental risks has been used to help select and order information.

The script is narrated by Matthew Ashton (plus guests) and covers:

- Why Air Pollution and Health?
- What do we mean by ‘air quality’ and what is air pollution?
- Where does pollution come from?
- It’s not just the great outdoors…
- What happens when we breathe polluted air?
- How big a problem is air pollution for Sefton?
- What is air quality like in Sefton?
- Protect yourself and your family
- So, what is the Council doing to tackle air pollution?
- What can you do (walking and cycling)?
- What can you do (drivers)?
- What’s next (our goals)?
- Who are the other key people we need to work with?
- Calls to action
- So, let’s make change happen (highlight additional information and resources in 

accompanying pdf)

The short pdf document, will provide more practical advice, myth-busting facts and 
signposts to additional resources. It will also include further information requested by 
community stakeholders e.g. how air pollution is measured, estimates of health impacts 
from air pollution, sources of air pollution in Sefton, and the role of the Council and other 
bodies in improving air quality. This document will further highlight the many air quality 
improvement measures already in place and affirm Sefton Council’s commitments for the 
year ahead, plus positive calls for action directed towards key partners (listed below).

Our goals

The Council is using a range of information on the sources of pollution in hotspot areas 
plus the latest guidance to look into what else we can do to improve air quality more 
quickly. The Government’s new Clean Air Strategy says that Councils will be given more 
powers to help tackle air pollution.  But we will also,

 Continue to involve communities and work on our communications, using your 
feedback to build a better website and look at different ways to keep you informed 
about air quality 

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



 Start work on a new project enabling residents to reduce their exposure to air 
pollution at home

 Build on our existing work with schools, starting with activities on Clean Air Day 
 Support opportunities for citizen-led science and action to help tackle air pollution, 

such as community planting and air monitoring projects

Who are the other key people we need to work with?

We also have an important role to play in supporting work going on elsewhere. This 
includes, bringing a Sefton voice to the Liverpool City Region Air Quality Task Force, and 
helping the NHS and other organisations and businesses to live up to their new 
responsibilities under the Government’s Clean Air Strategy and the NHS Long Term 
Plan.

 In areas where the Council has no control to make changes we will put pressure 
on the agencies who do. This includes Highways England for major roads and the 
Environment Agency.

 We will continue to tell the Government what this Council needs to improve air 
quality in Sefton, whether this is additional funding or changes to the law.

Our calls for action

We are calling on our NHS partners to:
 Use their Sustainable Development Management Plan to highlight actions to 

deliver on the air quality goals in the NHS Long Term Plan, and
 Share how they are supporting patients and staff to reduce health impacts from air 

pollution

Our challenge to industry, other businesses and organisations is to:
 Make one big change this year! Whether that’s a brand new Clean Air Strategy, 

an attractive active travel policy or introducing a fleet recognition scheme for 
drivers.

We’re asking Schools across Sefton - our pupils and parents to tell us their ideas to 
promote cleaner air:

 Will you adopt an air pollution monitor? Host an anti-idling campaign? Develop a 
fresh approach to the ‘school run’? Or do a project on indoor air pollution? The 
Clean Air Crew website is full of inspiration

And finally, to our community, voluntary and faith sector:
 Please help by bringing your creative energy and ideas to share the messages 

from this report far and wide.

2.4 Publication and Dissemination

The finalised PHAR will be shared at Children’s and Regeneration and Skills Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Full Council, Health and Wellbeing Board, Sefton 
Healthwatch, CCG Governing Bodies, Young People’s Parliament and with members of 
community groups who have taken time to share their views and ideas during the 
development of the report.

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



The PHAR has an important and continuing role to play to as a spur to action in the wider 
system and as part of our ongoing public communications and engagement strategy. The 
animation is a valuable tool to raise awareness, present reliable information and advice, 
and as context to frame other campaigns and engagement, for example on anti-idling 
and domestic burning.

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and 
Skills)

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Children’s 
Services and 
Safeguarding)

Date of Meeting: Tuesday 2 July 
2019

Tuesday 9 July 
2019

Subject: Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
Provision Working Group - Final Report

Report of: Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Children, Schools and Safeguarding

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To formally present the final report of the Special Educational Needs and Disability 
Provision Working Group.

Recommendation(s):

(1) That the Specialist Transport Manager be requested to:-

(a) Consider methods whereby young people in Sefton with Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) can be offered Independent 
Travel Training by 2030, as part of the following Vision for Sefton 2030:

“By Sefton 2030 the Council will encourage all young people with SEND to 
travel in a manner that will enable them to take-up the opportunities that 
will exist for them within Sefton”;

(b) Consider how Personalised Travel Budgets could be offered to more 
parents/carers, as part of an increased choice of home-school travel 
arrangements;

(c) Approach the Sefton Parent Carer Forum, with a view to working with it to 
promote the concept of Travel Training;

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



(d) Submit an annual report/update on progress made regarding Independent 
Travel Training, together with up-take of Personal Transport Budgets, to 
the following Overview and Scrutiny Committees each year:

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding); and
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills; and

(2) That the Senior Democratic Services Officer be requested to forward a copy of 
the Final Report to the Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and Safeguarding, 
for information.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Working Group has made a number of recommendations that require approval by 
both the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) and the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services and Safeguarding).

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

No alternative options were considered. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees named 
above have established the working group to review provision for young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities and the Working Group has performed this 
task.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any financial 
implications arising in the future will be reported to Members at the appropriate time.

(A) Revenue Costs

See above.

(B) Capital Costs

See above.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

See above.
Legal Implications:
There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. Any legal implications 
arising in the future will be reported to Members at the appropriate time.

Equality Implications:

Page 36

Agenda Item 6



There are no equality implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:
Young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) are 
considered to be some of the more vulnerable members of our communities.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
By improving the level of independence for young people with SEND, this will 
contribute towards the facilitation of more confident and resilient communities.
Commission, broker and provide core services:
The Local Authority shares responsibility for young people with SEND and has a role 
to play in ensuring pro-active care and services for them.
Place – leadership and influencer:
The Council has a role to play in providing strong leadership and influencing Partners 
to work towards the provision of care and services which are in the best interests of 
young people with SEND.
Drivers of change and reform:
The Council has a role to play in driving improvements in support offered to young 
people with SEND.
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
Pro-active support for young people with SEND is more likely to lead to them reaching 
their maximum potential, which could include improved life chances.
Greater income for social investment: 
Pro-active support for young people with SEND is more likely to lead to them reaching 
their maximum potential, which could include improved life chances.
Cleaner Greener
In the future, less use of transport provision and greater use of public transport, could 
contribute towards a cleaner, greener Borough.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Education Excellence was consulted during the course of the review.

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5690/19) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD 4814/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Liverpool City Council was consulted during the course of the review.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



Contact Officer: Debbie Campbell
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 2254
Email Address: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

 Final Report of the Special Educational Needs and Disability Provision working 
Group.

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 At its meeting on 10 July 2018 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s 
Services and Safeguarding) agreed to request the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Regeneration and Skills) to consider the establishment of a joint 
working group to consider provision for young people with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities (SEND). (Minute No. 12 (3) refers). The Committee 
subsequently agreed that Councillors Brenda O’Brien and Spencer should be 
appointed to serve on the joint working group.

1.2 At its meeting on 18 September 2018 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and Skills) gave approval to the establishment of a joint working 
group to examine provision for young people with SEND, in order to improve 
conditions for this vulnerable group of young people. (Minute No. 16 (4) refers). The 
Committee also agreed that Councillors Dowd and Michael O’Brien should be 
appointed to serve on the joint working group.

1.2 The Working Group appointed Councillor Spencer as the Lead Member for the 
review. Subsequently, it was agreed that Councillor Dowd would be the Interim 
Lead Member.

1.3 Terms of reference and objectives for the Working Group were as follows:-

To review post-16 provision for Special Educational Needs and Disability in terms 
of home to school transport arrangements, as provided by the Council’s Specialist 
Transport Unit (STU).

1.4 The Final Report is attached for consideration 

1.5 The Committee is requested to support the recommendations produced by the 
Working Group.

Page 38

Agenda Item 6



JOINT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REVIEW

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
(CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND SAFEGUARDING)

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
(REGENERATION AND SKILLS)

POST-16 SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY
(SEND) PROVISION
WORKING GROUP

FINAL REPORT
JULY 2019

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



‘Valuing
Improvement’
www.sefton.gov.uk
scrutiny@sefton.gov.uk

Page 40

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
1

CONTENTS PAGE

PARAGRAPH AND TITLE PAGE NO.

Lead Member’s Introduction 2

Glossary of Terms Used 3-4

Background to the Review 5

Membership of Working Group / Lead Member 6

Terms of Reference and Objectives for the Review / 
Methods of Enquiry

7

Summary of Meetings / Site Visit 8

Background Documents 9

Interviewing Key Witnesses 10

Key Findings 11-15

Conclusions 16

Acknowledgements and Thanks 17-18

Recommendations 19

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
2

INTERIM LEAD MEMBER’S INTRODUCTION

It gives me great pleasure to submit the findings in relation to the review on post-16 Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) provision.

When we began the review, we were conscious that the Council needs to work efficiently 
and effectively to enable families to receive the support they are entitled to, particularly for 
the most vulnerable young people with SEND. However, we were also aware of Public 
Sector reform and the need for the Council to consider a transformational approach to 
service delivery.

We were particularly aware of the need to improve the way that we work with parents and 
carers, including the Sefton Parent Carer Forum, and the need to be aspirational in how we 
support our young people with SEND. We identified a key opportunity in expanding support 
for Independent Travel Training for post-16 age students with mild to moderate SEND 
needs. We heard the experiences of young people who have undergone this training, and 
the way in which their enhanced independence and confidence has the potential to 
transform their lives.

However, we also understand only too well how the notion of independent travel for young 
people with SEND will require a cultural shift for the Council and particularly for families and 
carers. Change will not happen overnight. For the moment, this is an aspiration, which is 
dependent on the infrastructure within the Council being available to support it. However, 
this aspiration could become realised as part of the Sefton 2030 Vision. By requesting an 
annual report/update on travel support we will hold officers to account in relation to 
encouraging independence, co-production and choice; keeping our journey to the Sefton 
2030 Vision under review by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

I would like to express my gratitude to everyone who contributed towards this review and 
thank other Working Group Members for their commitment and dedication in looking at this 
matter. Finally, I would like to thank our support officers for their assistance and support 
during the course of the review and in producing this final report.

Councillor Liz Dowd, Interim Lead Members of the Post-16 
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
Provision Working Group

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills)

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services and Safeguarding)

Page 42

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
3

GLOSSARY OF TERMS USED

SEND Special Educational Needs and 
Disability

STU Specialist Transport Unit

The aim of the STU is to transport 
qualifying children between home and 
school. The STU also transports 
vulnerable adults between 
home/residence and destination. This 
latter function is not the subject of this 
report.

Sefton Educational Psychology and 
Portage Service

Educational psychologists are 
concerned with the learning and well-
being of children and young people in 
educational and early years’ settings.
Portage is a home-visiting educational 
service for pre-school children with 
SEND and their families.

PSE Personal and Social Education

A statutory requirement in schools and 
compulsory for all students at Key 
Stages 1, 2, 3 and 4 (5 to 16 years old).

EHC Plan Education, Health and Care Plan. The 
former Statement of SEN, setting out a 
child’s Special Education Needs 
(educational) and any additional help a 
child should receive, was replaced by 
the Education, Health and Care Plan, 
which sets out educational, health and 
social needs for a child and also sets 
out the additional support required to 
meet those needs.

LCC Liverpool City Council

Personal Travel Budget A payment given to families directly 
which they can then use to ensure their 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Student
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Key_Stage
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Key_Stage


Overview and Scrutiny
4

children get to and from school every 
day.

Sefton 2030 Vision Imagine Sefton 2030 engaged with 
thousands of people, local businesses 
and potential investors to create a vision 
that collectively promotes shared 
prosperity, co-ordinated public 
investment, and a healthy environment 
and population.

Page 44

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
5

BACKGROUND TO THE REVIEW

1. At the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services 
and Safeguarding) held on 10 July 2018, the Committee considered a 
recommendation from the Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
Process of Assessment Working Group requesting the Committee to consider 
the establishment of a Working Group to examine post-19 provision for 
SEND. It was suggested that this could be a Joint Working Group with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills).

2. The Committee agreed that:

“(3) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) be 
requested to consider the establishment of a joint working group to 
consider post-19 provision for Special Educational Needs and 
Disability, with Members of this Committee;” (Minute No. 12 refers).

3. A request was submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and Skills) to consider the establishment of a joint working 
group to consider post-19 provision for Special Educational Needs and 
Disability, at its meeting held on 18 September 2018.

4. The Committee agreed that:

“(4) approval be given to the establishment of a Joint Working Group with 
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services 
and Safeguarding) to examine post-19 provision for Special Educational 
Needs and Disability, in order to improve conditions for this vulnerable 
group of young people;” (Minute No. 16 refers).

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
6

MEMBERSHIP OF WORKING GROUP

1. A request was submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and Skills) to consider the establishment of a joint working 
group to consider post-19 provision for Special Educational Needs and 
Disability, at its meeting held on 18 September 2018.

2. The Committee agreed that:

“(4) approval be given to the establishment of a Joint Working Group with 
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services 
and Safeguarding) to examine post-19 provision for Special Educational 
Needs and Disability, in order to improve conditions for this vulnerable 
group of young people; and

(5) Councillors Dowd and Michael O’Brien be appointed to serve on the 
Joint Working Group referred to in (4) above;” (Minute No. 16 refers).

3. At the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services 
and Safeguarding) Committee held on 25 September 2018, the Committee 
agreed that:

“(2) Councillors Brenda O’Brien and Spencer be appointed to serve on the 
joint working group to consider post-19 provision for Special 
Educational Needs and Disability, with Members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills);” (Minute No. 24 refers).

LEAD MEMBER

1. The first meeting of the Working Group took place on 20 November 2018, and 
Councillor Spencer was appointed as the Lead Member.

2. However, during April 2019, Councillor Spencer took some time off from her 
Council duties, due to personal reasons and Councillor Dowd was nominated 
as the Lead Member of the Working Group, in her absence.

Page 46

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
7

TERMS OF REFERENCE AND OBJECTIVES FOR THE REVIEW

1. At the first meeting of the Working Group on 20 November 2018, Members 
scoped the review and decided to consider transport arrangements. They also 
decided to broaden the scope of the review and to consider post-16 
arrangements.

2. The Working Group agreed the following Terms of Reference and 
Objectives:-

To review post-16 provision for Special Educational Needs and Disability in 
terms of home to school transport arrangements, as provided by the Council’s 
Specialist Transport Unit (STU).

METHODS OF ENQUIRY

1. Consideration of data, information and evidence from existing sources 
(background documents);

2. Undertaking witness interviews with representatives of relevant services;

3. Any necessary site visits, e.g. SEND Officers in other Local Authorities.

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
8

SUMMARY OF MEETINGS OF THE WORKING GROUP HELD AND SITE VISIT 
UNDERTAKEN

A summary of Working Group meetings and activity is outlined as follows:

Date of Meeting Activity

20 November 
2018

Appointment of Lead Member and Scoping of the review.

4 December 2018 Consideration of background documents.
Discussion of issues.

22 January 2019 Members met with the Head of Education Excellence and 
also a representative of the Inclusion Service.

10 April 2019 Discussion on what Travel Support would look like in Sefton 
2030 and how the Council would deliver this.

12 June 2019 Consideration of draft Final Report.

In addition, Working Group Members undertook a site visit, as follows:

Date Site Visit

25 February 2019 Site visit to Liverpool City Council to hear 
about the experience with travel training 
and to discuss issues arising.

Page 48

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
9

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Working Group Members considered the following documents during the course of 
their review:-

1. The Sefton Post 16 Transport Policy Statement for learners aged 16-19 and 
16-25 for students with learning difficulties or disabilities. Link available as 
follows:-

https://www.seftondirectory.com/kb5/sefton/directory/advice.page?id=MBRSyhUJzW
A&localofferchannel=0

Available in the downloads tab.

2. Department for Education - Home to school travel and transport guidance - 
Statutory guidance for local authorities, published July 2014. Link available as 
follows:-

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf

3. Department for Education - Post-16 transport and travel support to education 
and training - Statutory guidance for local authorities, published January 
2019. Link available as follows:-

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach
ment_data/file/772913/Post16_transport_guidance.pdf

4. Information published by “Contact” – a registered charity that offers guidance 
and information to families with disabled children, including a factsheet on the 
home to school transport process written for parents. Link available as follows:-

https://www.contact.org.uk/search-results/?s=transport

5. “Contact” also provides specific information about post-16 transport. Link 
available as follows:-

https://www.contact.org.uk/advice-and-support/education-learning/transport-to-
school-and-college/transport-for-young-people-over-16-in-england/

Page 49

Agenda Item 6

https://www.seftondirectory.com/kb5/sefton/directory/advice.page?id=MBRSyhUJzWA&localofferchannel=0
https://www.seftondirectory.com/kb5/sefton/directory/advice.page?id=MBRSyhUJzWA&localofferchannel=0
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575323/Home_to_school_travel_and_transport_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/772913/Post16_transport_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/772913/Post16_transport_guidance.pdf
https://www.contact.org.uk/search-results/?s=transport
https://www.contact.org.uk/advice-and-support/education-learning/transport-to-school-and-college/transport-for-young-people-over-16-in-england/
https://www.contact.org.uk/advice-and-support/education-learning/transport-to-school-and-college/transport-for-young-people-over-16-in-england/


Overview and Scrutiny
10

INTERVIEWING OF KEY WITNESSES

Head of Education

Working Group Members met with the Head of Education Excellence to discuss 
issues regarding home to school/college transport arrangements for young people 
aged post-16 with SEND, as provided by the Council’s Specialist Transport Unit 
(STU), and a number of issues associated with the STU were raised, including the 
possibility of travel training.

Sefton Educational Psychology and Portage Service

Working Group Members met with a representative of the Sefton Educational 
Psychology and Portage Service to discuss Inclusion Support in terms of home to 
school/college transport arrangements for young people aged post-16 with SEND, and 
to seek an Inclusion perspective regarding the possibility of travel training.

Independent Travel Training Service, Liverpool City Council

Working Group Members undertook a site visit to meet with representatives of the 
Independent Travel Training Service at Liverpool City Council, to discuss travel 
training for young people with SEND. Members heard about how the scheme 
operates at Liverpool City Council, including the barriers and benefits to the scheme.

Specialist Transport Manager

Throughout the course of the review, Working Group Members were supported and 
advised by the Council’s Specialist Transport Manager on the policies and 
procedures involved for young people with SEND who receive transport and travel 
support to education and training establishments.

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
11

KEY FINDINGS

Independent Travel Training - Explained

1. During February 2019, Working Group Members travelled to Speke to meet 
with representatives of the Independent Travel Training Service at Liverpool 
City Council, to discuss travel training for young people with SEND. Members 
heard about how the scheme operates at Liverpool City Council (LCC), 
including the barriers and benefits to the scheme.

2. The LCC Travel Team start working with Year 6 pupils in mainstream primary 
schools, in conjunction with Mersey Travel, prior to transition to High School. 
Children with SEND who will go on to attend a Special School are particularly 
targeted for this training. A 6-week course is offered by Mersey Travel and 
Schools could buy-in to the scheme. Children with needs who might benefit 
from the scheme are identified at this time.

3. Travel training in school forms part of lessons during Personal and Social 
Education (PSE) in schools. A skills assessment, involving obtaining specific 
answers from the individual child/young person is undertaken.

4. More intensive travel training for young people with SEND with mild to 
moderate learning difficulties commences once the young person concerned, 
together with input from parents/carers and teachers, make the decision that 
the young person is ready to develop their travel awareness. This is more 
likely to be around the post-16 age, when the young person is about to make 
the transition from school to college, or a training centre, etc. Training takes 
place during the summer holidays, throughout the day. Young people with 
severe learning difficulties are not approached to take part in the scheme.

5. One-to-one training is undertaken with trained travel trainers who travel with 
the young person on the journey to school/college, on public transport if 
necessary, and issues such as road safety, “stranger danger”, etc. are 
discussed with the young person en route.

6. Refresher training can be undertaken if the young person experiences a lack 
of confidence, or a “wobble”, after changing school/college. There is no 
“timetable” for training as such, rather the process takes as long as is necessary 
and does not necessarily suit all individuals.

7. Regular coffee mornings were held with parents from LCC, in order to maintain 
contact and communication with them regarding their children and the training 
they received.

8. The young people concerned worked towards a qualification as part of the 
independent travel training. For some young people with SEND this may be the 
only qualification they have received to date. At LCC an awards event takes 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
12

place each year in order for the young people concerned to obtain a certificate 
on completion of their travel training.

9. A video on the Independent Travel Training Awards 2018, at LCC, is available 
for viewing at the following link:-

http://search3.openobjects.com/kb5/liverpool/fsd/localoffer.page?localofferchannel=1
1-1

Independent Travel Training – The Benefits

1. Increased Confidence and Self-Esteem - Independent Travel contributes 
towards greater confidence and self-esteem for young people with SEND as 
they are able to participate not just in journeys to school/college, but also 
undertake leisure activities and other journeys that might otherwise have not 
been possible for them.

2. Increased Physical and Emotional Well-Being - A greater sense of well-
being and fitness is achieved as independent travel involves more walking and 
exercise in general. The confidence and higher levels of self-esteem achieved 
also contribute towards an increased level of well-being.

3. Better Outcomes – Good support for children and young people with SEND 
is more likely to lead to them reaching their maximum potential, which could 
include improved life chances. Independent travel opens-up a wider world and 
increased opportunities for young people with SEND as young people have 
been able to go on to attend education/training opportunities and in some 
cases, obtain paid employment. Any increases in numbers accessing 
education could be measured and used as a method to illustrate outcomes.

4. Greater Inclusion and Equality – Children and young people with SEND are 
considered to be some of the more vulnerable members of our communities. 
Independent Travel enables young people with SEND to participate in 
activities and journeys that many other young people take for granted, 
including possible employment opportunities, education and leisure.

Independent Travel Training – The Barriers

1. Parental Concerns

1.1 The experience at Liverpool City Council (LCC) suggests that the most 
resistance to independent travel training can sometimes come from 
parents/carers. The concerns held by parents/carers are entirely 
understandable as many young people with SEND have received school 
transport provision for a number of years and parents/carers anticipate that 
such provision will continue when the young person leaves school and attends 
college and/or any other training opportunities. Any proposals for young people 
to receive independent travel training represents something of a shift in culture 

Page 52

Agenda Item 6

http://search3.openobjects.com/kb5/liverpool/fsd/localoffer.page?localofferchannel=11-1
http://search3.openobjects.com/kb5/liverpool/fsd/localoffer.page?localofferchannel=11-1


Overview and Scrutiny
13

towards a “can do” approach, which could be seen to be possibly contradictory 
to the approach largely experienced by parents/carers to date, in terms of their 
child. They may also under-estimate the capabilities and potential of their child.

1.2 LCC has also introduced a shift in culture by moving away from door-to-door 
travel, with alternative collection points for young people away from their front 
door. Inevitably, a few complaints have been received, as parents will always 
compare their experience with that of others and perhaps not consider that 
“exceptional circumstances” do sometimes occur, some individuals requiring 
greater travel support than others.

1.3 Very occasionally, parents/carers have displayed inappropriate behaviour 
towards Council and Transport staff. This should not be acceptable, nor should 
it be tolerated, although imposing appropriate sanctions can be problematic.

1.4 Any parental concerns regarding independent travel training would need to be 
dealt with sensitively and the need to involve parents/carers from the outset is 
apparent. Generally, parents/carers do become more supportive of Travel 
Training once their child begins to grow in confidence and become more 
independent. It is also necessary to identify parents who would be prepared to 
act as “champions” for Travel Training, as “co-production” in conjunction with 
the Council is important.

1.5 Parental concerns highlight the need for an Independent Travel Training 
Service to work with parents/carers, together with the young person concerned.

1.6 Although the Sefton Parent Carer Forum is not necessarily representative of all 
parents, it could be useful to obtain a statement from the Forum and to work 
with it in the promotion of Travel Training.

2. Concerns held by Schools/Colleges - The experience at LCC suggests that 
some schools and colleges are reluctant to become involved with Independent 
Travel Training for young people with SEND, as they hold concerns regarding 
the attendance and punctuality of students. Again, these concerns highlight the 
importance of an Independent Travel Training Service working with schools 
and colleges, together with the young person concerned and their 
parents/carers, in order to make such a scheme work. There is a need for 
schools/colleges to “buy-in” to the training and to promote the service.

Other Issues Considered Relating to Home-School Transport Provision for 
Young People with SEND

1. EHC Plans – Not all young people with a Plan receive free transport and not 
everyone entitled to transport has a Plan. The Council hopes to include reviews 
and milestones within Plans, in the future. Free transport is not automatically 
provided for young people in order to access education, rather, where parents 
ask for transport to be provided, the Local Authority will check eligibility and 
provide support, if it is required.

Page 53

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
14

1. Personal Travel Budgets – Personalised Travel Budgets have only been 
applied relatively recently at Sefton. These would need to be included in future 
considerations as some parents/carers would rather make their own 
arrangements and increasing choice for parents is important. It is the 
responsibility of parents/carers to ensure that their children get to and from 
school every day. Apart from this responsibility, there is no other method of 
“policing” how personal budgets are spent.

2. Inclusion – Working Group Members considered that inclusion and universal 
equality are vitally important to the future of Young People with SEND and 
this applies to the Home-School Transport Provision.

3. Link to the Sefton 2030 Vision – Whilst Working Group Members were 
supportive of the concept of Independent Travel Training, as achieved at 
Liverpool City Council, they were conscious that this shift in culture will not be 
achievable over-night in Sefton, rather it is an aspiration for the Council to 
aspire to and work towards. Members were aware that the Sefton 2030 Vision 
was agreed in November 2016, together with the Vision Outcomes Framework 
and the Council’s Core Purpose. Members of the Working Group considered 
that the shift towards increased Independent Travel Training could be linked to 
the Sefton 2030 Vision and drafted the following principles, regarding Travel 
Training:-

 Travel support should not be something the Council does to people, rather it 
should be something the Council does with people, as the Council should play 
an enabling role.

 What will “good” look like? Progress will be a journey and it will be beneficial to 
include elected Members in the discussion on progress.

 The concept of Travel Training should start early, possibly in Year 5 of primary 
school, and should involve discussions with parents of children with SEND at 
an early stage.

 Every young person who is considered to be capable of Travel Training should 
be offered the opportunity, the aim and target being greater independence for 
the young people concerned.

4. Draft Vision – Members of the Working Group produced the following Draft 
Vision, regarding Travel Training:-

 By Sefton 2030 the Council will encourage all young people with SEND to 
travel in a manner that will enable them to take-up the opportunities that 
will exist for them within Sefton.

5. Council Policy – As Members considered that the aspiration of Independent 
Travel Training was best linked to the Sefton 2030 Vision, it was considered 
that the Final Report of the Working Group would not need to be reported to 

Page 54

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
15

the Cabinet at this particular point in time, rather it could be considered by the 
Cabinet in the future, at a time when the Council is ready to progress the matter.

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
16

CONCLUSIONS

1. Working Group Members considered that, as part of the following Vision for 
Sefton 2030, young people in Sefton with Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) should be offered Independent Travel Training by 2030:

“By Sefton 2030 the Council will encourage all young people with SEND 
to travel in a manner that will enable them to take-up the opportunities 
that will exist for them within Sefton”.

2. Members of the Working Group considered that in due course, Personalised 
Travel Budgets should be offered to more parents/carers, as part of an 
increased choice of home-school travel arrangements.

3. Members considered that the Sefton Parent Carer Forum could be approached, 
with a view to requesting that joint working with the Council could be undertaken 
to promote the concept of Travel Training for young people with SEND.

4. As Working Group Members were conscious that the shift in culture will not be 
achievable over-night and would need to be an aspiration for the Council to 
work towards as part of the Sefton 2030 Vision, they were anxious that the 
concept of Independent Travel Training is not “lost” over time. For this reason, 
they considered that an annual report/update on progress regarding 
Independent Travel Training, together the with up-take of Personal Transport 
Budgets, should be submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committees that 
have taken part in this review, on an annual basis.

5. Members of the Working Group were conscious that the “journey” towards 
Independent Travel Training could be a long one and that it was important for 
the relevant Cabinet Member to be aware of the aspirations from the outset.

Page 56

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
17

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND THANKS

In producing this report on Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) 
Provision, acknowledgements and thanks are attributed to the individuals outlined 
below, for their time and input:

 The following officers from the Council:

 Debbie Campbell, Senior Democratic Services Officer;

 Graham Lymbery, Specialist Transport Manager

 The Council’s Head of Education

 The Sefton Educational Psychology and Portage Service

The following organisation:

 Liverpool City Council – the Independent Travel Training Service

Thanks must also go to the Members of the Working Group who have worked hard 
and dedicated a great deal of time to this review, namely:

Councillor Paula Spencer Councillor Liz Dowd
(Lead Member)

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
18

Councillor Brenda O’Brien Councillor Michael O’Brien

Page 58

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
19

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the Specialist Transport Manager be requested to:-

(a) Consider methods whereby young people in Sefton with Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) can be offered Independent 
Travel Training by 2030, as part of the following Vision for Sefton 2030:

“By Sefton 2030 the Council will encourage all young people with 
SEND to travel in a manner that will enable them to take-up the 
opportunities that will exist for them within Sefton”;

(b) Consider how Personalised Travel Budgets could be offered to more 
parents/carers, as part of an increased choice of home-school travel 
arrangements;

(c) Approach the Sefton Parent Carer Forum, with a view to working with it 
to promote the concept of Travel Training;

(d) Submit an annual report/update on progress made regarding 
Independent Travel Training, together with up-take of Personal 
Transport Budgets, to the following Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
each year:

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services and 
Safeguarding); and
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills; and

2. That the Senior Democratic Services Officer be requested to forward a copy 
of the Final Report to the Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and 
Safeguarding, for information.

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
20

For further Information please contact:-

Debbie Campbell

Senior Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2254

E-Mail: debbie.campbell@legal.sefton.gov.uk

Page 60

Agenda Item 6

mailto:debbie.campbell@legal.sefton.gov.uk


1

Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
(Children’s 
Services and 
Safeguarding)

Date of Meeting: 9 July 2019

Subject: Cabinet Member Report – June 2019

Report of: Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer

Wards Affected: All

Cabinet Portfolio: Children, Schools and Safeguarding

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

 No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:
To submit the Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and Safeguarding report 
relating to the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Recommendation:

That the Cabinet Member – Children, Schools and Safeguarding report relating to 
the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee be noted.

Reasons for the Recommendation:

In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to be 
submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

No alternative options have been considered because the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to be 
submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

Any financial implications associated with the Cabinet Member report, which are 
referred to in this update, are contained within the respective reports.

(A) Revenue Costs – see above

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



2

(B) Capital Costs – see above

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: None directly applicable to this report. The Cabinet 
Member update provides information on activity within Councillor John Joseph 
Kelly’s portfolio during a previous two month period. Any reports relevant to his 
portfolio considered by the Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Committees during this 
period would contain information as to how such reports contributed to the 
Council’s Core Purpose. 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: As above

Commission, broker and provide core services: As above

Place – leadership and influencer: As above

Drivers of change and reform: As above

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: As above

Greater income for social investment: As above

Cleaner Greener: As above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Cabinet Member Update Report is not subject to FD/LD consultation. Any 
specific financial and legal implications associated with any subsequent reports 
arising from the attached Cabinet Member update report will be included in those 
reports as appropriate

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable 

Page 62

Agenda Item 7



3

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: Debbie Campbell
Telephone Number: 0151 934 2254
Email Address: debie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk 

Appendices:

The following appendix is attached to this report: 

 Cabinet Member - (Children, Schools and Safeguarding) Update Report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member 
Reports to be submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

1.2 Attached to this report, for information, is the most recent Cabinet Member 
report for the Children, Schools and Safeguarding portfolio.

Page 63

Agenda Item 7

mailto:debie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

CABINET MEMBER UPDATE REPORT
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services and Safeguarding) - 9 July 2019

Councillor Portfolio Period of Report
John Joseph Kelly Cabinet Member for

Children, Schools and 
Safeguarding

June 2019

SEND Revisit letter

The Local Area had a revisit from Ofsted to review the progress made on the written 
statement of action following the SEND Inspection in 2016. Following the revisit, the 
Inspectors found that the local area had not made sufficient progress.

Although education outcomes had improved since 2010 the timeliness of completion of 
plans had reduced and was a concern and EHCPs were not being fully co-produced with 
parents. The Inspectors found that there were no effective operational governance 
arrangements in place by which health providers are held to account for the delivery of 
services and waiting times for therapeutic services had increased.  Health practitioners 
are not routinely writing health submissions for EHC plans for the children with whom 
they are directly working and examples of health submissions were poor in setting out 
measurable goals and intended outcomes for the child and there is no evidence of 
effective quality assurance or monitoring of the timeliness of health submissions. This 
results in poor-quality health information leading to poor EHC plans.

The Inspectors also found that there is no ASD pathway in place which is compliant with 
guidance from the National Institute of Health and Care Excellence.

A copy of the letter is available via the following link:-

https://www.seftondirectory.com/kb5/sefton/directory/advice.page?id=npTRpI88pJg   

Office of the Schools Adjudicator Annual Return

The local authority has submitted the annual return to the Office of the Schools 
Adjudicator regarding admission arrangements over the last year.  The only note of 
concern was around a couple of academy schools which went over their published 
admission number because they were more popular than anticipated.  

Legally the academies can do this but it caused problems for other schools whose 
number of allocated pupils dropped. This has also been raised as a concern with the 
Regional Schools Commissioner.

Ofsted Inspection Outcome

Holy Family Catholic High School was recently inspected and has been found to be 
good.  The school was previously ‘requires improvement’ and has worked very hard to 
improve over the last few years.  This is the first secondary school in Sefton to improve 
over the last couple of years and shows there are positive improvements in the sector.

Page 65

Agenda Item 7

https://www.seftondirectory.com/kb5/sefton/directory/advice.page?id=npTRpI88pJg


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee
(Children’s 
Services and 
Safeguarding)

Date of Meeting: 9 July 2019

Subject: Work Programme 2019/20, Scrutiny Review Topics and Key 
Decision Forward Plan

Report of: Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer

Wards Affected: All

Cabinet Portfolio: Children, Schools and Safeguarding

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To seek the views of the Committee on the draft Work Programme for 2019/20; note 
the progress made to date by the Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) Provision Working Group; identify potential topics for a scrutiny review to be 
undertaken by a Working Group appointed by the Committee; and identify any items 
for pre-scrutiny by the Committee from the latest Key Decision Forward Plan.

Recommendation:

That:- 

(1) the Work Programme for 2019/20, as set out in Appendix A to the report, be 
considered, along with any additional items to be included and agreed;

(2) progress made to date by the Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) Provision Working Group be noted;

(3) a scrutiny review topic for 2019/20 be selected; a Working Group for the chosen 
topic be established; and at least 3 Members of the Committee be appointed to 
the Working Group; and

(4) items for pre-scrutiny from the Key Decision Forward Plan that fall under the 
remit of the Committee, as set out in Appendix D to the report, be considered 
and any agreed items be included in the work programme referred to in (1) 
above.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Page 67

Agenda Item 8



To determine the Work Programme of items to be considered during the Municipal Year 
2019/20 and identify scrutiny review topics which would demonstrate that the work of the 
Overview and Scrutiny “adds value” to the Council.

The pre-scrutiny process assists Cabinet Members to make effective decisions by 
examining issues before making formal decisions. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

No alternative options have been considered as the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
needs to approve its Work Programme and identify scrutiny review topics.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any financial 
implications arising from the consideration of a key decision or relating to a 
recommendation arising from a Working Group review will be reported to Members at the 
appropriate time.

(A) Revenue Costs – see above

(B) Capital Costs – see above

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): None

Legal Implications: None

Equality Implications: There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: None directly applicable to this report. Reference in the 
Work Programme to any other reports could impact on the Council’s Core Purposes, 
in which case they will be referred to in the report when submitted.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: As Above 
Commission, broker and provide core services: As Above 
Place – leadership and influencer: As Above
Drivers of change and reform: As Above
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: As Above
Greater income for social investment: As Above
Cleaner Greener: As Above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations
The Work Programme Report is not subject to FD/LD consultation.  Any specific financial 
and legal implications associated with any subsequent reports arising from the Work 
Programme report will be included in those reports as appropriate.

Page 68

Agenda Item 8



(B) External Consultations 
Not applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision
Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: Debbie Campbell
Telephone Number: 0151 934 2254
Email Address: debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk 

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report:-

 Appendix A - Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme for 2018/19;
 Appendix B – Terms of Reference for the Committee (extract from the 

Constitution);
 Appendix C - Criteria Checklist for Selecting Topics for Review; and
 Appendix D - Latest Key Decision Forward Plan items relating to this Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee.

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Introduction/Background

1. WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20

1.1 The proposed Work Programme of items to be submitted to the Committee for 
consideration during the Municipal Year 2019/20 is set out in Appendix A to the 
report. The programme has been produced in liaison with the appropriate Heads 
of Service, whose roles fall under the remit of the Committee.

1.2 Members are requested to consider whether there are any other items that they 
wish the Committee to consider, that fall within the terms of reference (set out in 
Appendix B) of the Committee. The Work Programme will be submitted to each 
meeting of the Committee during 2019/20 and updated, as appropriate.

1.3 The Committee is requested to comment on the Work Programme for 
2019/20, as set out in Appendix B to the report, and note that additional 
items may be added to the Programme at future meetings of the Committee 
during this Municipal Year.

Page 69

Agenda Item 8

mailto:debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk


2. SCRUTINY REVIEW TOPIC 2018/19

Joint Scrutiny Review - Post-16 Provision for Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND)

2.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Children’s Services and Safeguarding) 
has established a Joint Working Group with Members of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills). Councillors Dowd, Michael 
O’Brien, Brenda O’Brien and Spencer have been appointed to the Working Group 
and Members have focussed on the possibility of travel training being undertaken 
for young people with SEND. The Joint Working Group has met on five occasions 
and has undertaken a site visit to Liverpool City Council to discuss the travel 
training being undertaken there for young people with SEND.

2.2 At the time of drafting this report it is anticipated that the Final Report of the 
Working Group will be submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and Skills) at its meeting scheduled for 2 July 2019 and submitted 
to this Committee at its meeting on 9 July 2019. The outcome of consideration of 
the item at the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration 
and Skills) will be reported verbally to this Committee on 9 July 2019.

2.3 The Committee is requested to note the progress made to date by the Post-
16 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Provision Working 
Group.

3. SCRUTINY REVIEW TOPICS 2019/20

3.1 It is usual practise for the Committee to appoint a Working Group to undertake a 
scrutiny review of services during the Municipal Year.

3.2 During 2018/19 the Committee established a Joint Working Group with the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) to review Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Provision and the Working Group has 
focussed on the possibility of travel training being undertaken for young people 
with SEND.

3.3 A criteria checklist for selecting and rejecting potential topics to review is attached 
at Appendix C, to assist the Committee in selecting topic(s) and appointing 
Working Group(s) for the Municipal Year.

3.4 At the meeting of the Committee held on 19 March 2019, the Committee 
considered a report on “School Performance Update” and Members commented 
that persistent pupil absence could be considered as a potential topic for a 
Working Group review.

3.5 The Joint Working Group with the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and Skills) on Post-16 Provision for Special Educational Needs and 
Disability (SEND) has reviewed the possibility travel training for young people with 
SEND. Working Group Members have also commented on the possibility of 

Page 70

Agenda Item 8



reviewing educational and other processes for Post-16 provision for young people 
with SEND, in the future.

3.6 Members of the Committee may have alternative suggestions for a Working 
Group review.

3.7 The Committee is requested to consider a potential scrutiny review topic for 
2019/20; to establish a Working Group for the chosen topic; and to appoint 
at least 3 Members of the Committee to the Working Group.

4. PRE-SCRUTINY OF ITEMS IN THE KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN

4.1 Members may request to pre-scrutinise items from the Key Decision Forward Plan 
which fall under the remit (terms of reference) of this Committee. The Forward 
Plan, which is updated each month, sets out the list of items to be submitted to the 
Cabinet for consideration during the next four-month period.

4.2 The pre-scrutiny process assists the Cabinet Members to make effective 
decisions by examining issues beforehand and making recommendations prior to 
a determination being made.

4.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board has requested that only those key 
decisions that fall under the remit of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
should be included on the agenda for consideration.

4.4 The latest Forward Plan published on 28 June 2019 is attached at Appendix D for 
this purpose. For ease of identification, items listed on the Forward Plan for the 
first time appear as shaded.

4.5 There is just one item within the current Plan that falls under the remit of the 
Committee on this occasion, namely:-

 0-19 Healthy Child Programme.

4.6 Should Members require further information in relation to any item on the Key 
Decision Forward Plan, would they please contact the relevant Officer named 
against the item in the Plan, prior to the Meeting.

4.7 The Committee is invited to consider items for pre-scrutiny from the Key 
Decision Forward Plan as set out in Appendix D to the report, that fall under 
the remit of the Committee and any agreed items be included in the Work 
Programme referred to in (1) above.

Page 71

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

1
01/07/19

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND SAFEGUARDING)

WORK PROGRAMME 2019/20

Date of Meeting 9 JULY 19
Bootle

24 SEPTEMBER 19
Southport

12 NOVEMBER 19
Bootle

28 JANUARY 20
Southport

17 MARCH 20
Bootle

Regular Reports:-
Cabinet Member Update Report
(Colette Jones/Debbie Campbell)

X X X X X

Work Programme Update
(Debbie Campbell)

X X X X X

Service Operational Reports:-
Public Health Annual Report
(M. Ashton/H. Armitage)

X

Effectiveness of Local Authority Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees – Government 
Response to DCLG Select Committee 
Report
(Paul Fraser)

X

Children & Young People’s Social Care 
Continuous Improvement Plan & 
Performance Scorecard – Progress (Bi-
Annual Report)
(Vicky Buchanan)

X X

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

2
01/07/19

Date of Meeting 9 JULY 19 24 SEPTEMBER 19 12 NOVEMBER 19 28 JANUARY 20 17 MARCH 20

Children’s Social Care Annual Report
(Vicky Buchanan)

X

Fostering Service Annual Report
(Vicky Buchanan)

X

School Organisation and School Places 
(Annual Report)
(M. McSorley)

X

Corporate Parenting Board (Annual 
Report)
(Karen Gray)

X

Children & Young People's Plan 
Performance Dashboard
(Vicky Buchanan/Gill Cowley)

X

School Performance & Attainment (Annual 
Report)
(Mike McSorley)

X

P
age 74

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX A

3
01/07/19

Date of Meeting 9 JULY 19 24 SEPTEMBER 19 12 NOVEMBER 19 28 JANUARY 20 17 MARCH 20

NHS Updates
Review of Health Services for Children 
Looked After & Safeguarding in Sefton – 
Update on Actions Being Undertaken
(CCGs)

X

Activity to Promote Breastfeeding
(Margaret Jones / North West Boroughs NHS 
Foundation Trust)

X

Scrutiny Review Progress Reports:-
Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) Service Process of Assessment 
Working Group – Update Report
(Mike McSorley)

X

Post-16 SEND Provision Working Group – 
Final Report
(Debbie Campbell/Graham Lymbery)

X

CAMHS Working Group - Update Report 
on Work Undertaken by John Moore’s 
University
(Mike McSorley)

X

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

MEMBERSHIP AND TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES 

CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND SAFEGUARDING

MEMBERSHIP

10 Councillors, 4 voting church and parent governor representatives.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

To fulfil all the functions of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as they relate to 
Children’s Services and Safeguarding and to review and make recommendations for 
improvement in relation to the following functions:

 School Improvement
 Children’s Centres
 Special Educational Needs
 Early Years
 Early help – schools
 Statutory LEA functions
 Education Welfare
 Safeguarding
 Children with disabilities
 Looked after Children
 Fostering and Adoptions
 Family Support Pathway
 Troubled Families

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

CRITERIA CHECKLIST FOR SELECTING TOPICS FOR REVIEW

Criteria for Selecting Items
 Issue identified by members as key issue for public (through member 

surgeries, other contact with constituents or volume of complaints)
 Poor performing service (evidence from performance 

indicators/benchmarking)
 Service ranked as important by the community (e.g. through market 

surveys/citizens panels)
 High level of user/general public dissatisfaction with service (e.g. through 

market surveys/citizens panels/complaints)
 Public interest issue covered in local media
 High level of budgetary commitment to the service/policy area (as 

percentage of total expenditure)
 Pattern of budgetary overspends
 Council corporate priority area
 Central government priority area
 Issues raised by External Audit Management Letter/External audit reports
 New government guidance or legislation
 Reports or new evidence provided by external organisations on key issue
 Others

CRITERIA FOR REJECTION

Potential Criteria for Rejecting Items
 Issue being examined by the Cabinet
 Issue being examined by an Officer Group : changes imminent 
 Issue being examined by another internal body
 Issue will be addressed as part of a Service Review within the next year 
 New legislation or guidance expected within the next year
 Other reasons specific to the particular issues.

Page 79

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX C

SCRUTINY CHECKLIST
DO'S AND DON'TS

DO
 Remember that Scrutiny

 Is about learning and being a "critical friend"; it should be a positive 
process

 Is not opposition
 Remember that Scrutiny should result in improved value, enhanced 

performance or greater public satisfaction
 Take an overview and keep an eye on the wider picture
 Check performance against local standards and targets and national 

standards, and compare results with other authorities 
 Benchmark performance against local and national performance 

indicators, using the results to ask more informed questions 
 Use Working Groups to get underneath performance information
 Take account of local needs, priorities and policies
 Be persistent and inquisitive
 Ask effective questions - be constructive not judgmental
 Be open-minded and self aware - encourage openness and self criticism in 

services
 Listen to users and the public, seek the voices that are often not heard, 

seek the views of others - and balance all of these
 Praise good practice and best value - and seek to spread this throughout 

the authority
 Provide feedback to those who have been involved in the review and to 

stakeholders
 Anticipate difficulties in Members challenging colleagues from their own 

party 
 Take time to review your own performance

 DON'T
 Witch-hunt or use performance review as punishment
 Be party political/partisan
 Blame valid risk taking or stifle initiative or creativity
 Treat scrutiny as an add-on
 Get bogged down in detail
 Be frightened of asking basic questions
 Undertake too many issues in insufficient depth
 Start without a clear brief and remit
 Underestimate the task
 Lose track of the main purpose of scrutiny
 Lack sensitivity to other stakeholders
 Succumb to organisational inertia
 Duck facing failure - learn from it and support change and development
 Be driven by data or be paralysed by analysis - keep strategic overview, 

and expect officers to provide high level information and analysis to help.

Page 80

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX C

KEY QUESTIONS

Overview and Scrutiny Committees should keep in mind some of the 
fundamental questions:-

Are we doing what users/non users/local residents want? 
Are users' needs central to the service?
Why are we doing this?
What are we trying to achieve?
How well are we doing?
How do we compare with others?
Are we delivering value for money?
How do we know?
What can we improve?

INVESTIGATIONS:-

To what extent are service users' expectations and needs being met?
To what extent is the service achieving what the policy intended?
To what extent is the service meeting any statutory obligations or national 
standards and targets?
Are there any unexpected results/side effects of the policy?
Is the performance improving, steady or deteriorating?
Is the service able to be honest and open about its current performance and 
the reasons behind it?
Are areas of achievement and weakness fairly and accurately identified?
How has performance been assessed?  What is the evidence?
How does performance compare with that of others?  Are there learning 
points from others' experiences?
Is the service capable of meeting planned targets/standards?  What change to 
capability is needed.
Are local performance indicators relevant, helpful, meaningful to Members, 
staff and service users?

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENIDX D

1

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

FOR THE FOUR MONTH PERIOD 1 AUGUST 2019 - 30 NOVEMBER 2019

This Forward Plan sets out the details of the key decisions which the Cabinet, individual Cabinet 
Members or Officers expect to take during the next four month period.  The Plan is rolled forward 
every month and is available to the public at least 28 days before the beginning of each month.

A Key Decision is defined in the Council's Constitution as:

1. any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and Capital Programme 
approved by the Council and which requires a gross budget expenditure, saving or virement 
of more than £100,000 or more than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the 
greater;

2. any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact on a significant 
number of people living or working in two or more Wards

Anyone wishing to make representations about any of the matters listed below may do so by 
contacting the relevant officer listed against each Key Decision, within the time period indicated.

Under the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in the Council's Constitution, a Key 
Decision may not be taken, unless:

 it is published in the Forward Plan;
 5 clear days have lapsed since the publication of the Forward Plan; and
 if the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, 5 clear days notice of the meeting 

has been given.

The law and the Council's Constitution provide for urgent key decisions to be made, even though 
they have not been included in the Forward Plan in accordance with Rule 26 (General Exception) 
and Rule 28 (Special Urgency) of the Access to Information Procedure Rules.

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 
7AE or accessed from the Council's website: www.sefton.gov.uk 

 Council Constitution
 Forward Plan
 Reports on the Key Decisions to be taken
 Other documents relating to the proposed decision may be submitted to the decision making 

meeting and these too will be made available by the contact officer named in the Plan
 The minutes for each Key Decision, which will normally be published within 5 working days 

after having been made

Some reports to be considered by the Cabinet/Council may contain exempt information and will 
not be made available to the public. The specific reasons (Paragraph No(s)) why such reports are 
exempt are detailed in the Plan and the Paragraph No(s) and descriptions are set out below:-

Page 83

Agenda Item 8

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/


APPENIDX D

2

1. Information relating to any individual
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 

 authority holding that information)
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or        
negotiations in connection with any labour relations matter  arising between the authority or a 
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the Authority
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes a) to give under any enactment a notice 
under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed  on a person; or b) to make an order or 
direction under any enactment
7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime
8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by virtue of that 
paragraph if it is required to be registered under—

(a) the Companies Act 1985;
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974;
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992;
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978;
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or
(f) the Charities Act 1993.

9.Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the local 
planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning General Regulations 1992
10. Information which—

(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and
(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above,is exempt 

information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Cabinet and Council which are held 
at the Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle or the Town Hall, Lord Street, Southport.  The dates and 
times of the meetings are published on www.sefton.gov.uk or you may contact the Democratic 
Services Section on telephone number 0151 934 2068.

NOTE:  
For ease of identification, items listed within the document for the first time will appear shaded.

Dwayne Johnson
Chief Executive

Page 84

Agenda Item 8

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/


APPENIDX D

3

FORWARD PLAN INDEX OF ITEMS

Item Heading Officer Contact Page No

0-19 Healthy Child Programme Julie Murray julie.murray@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 
0151 934 3343

5

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken 0-19 Healthy Child Programme  

Service review outcomes and future procurement options

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 5 Sep 2019 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected All Wards

Scrutiny Committee Area Children's Services and Safeguarding

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Public Engagement and Consultation Panel; Partners and 
wider stakeholders; Young People; Parents; Staff; Cabinet 
Member – Children’s Services and Safeguarding

Method(s) of Consultation Meetings; Emails; Workshops and Focus Groups; Online 
Questionnaire 

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

0-19 Healthy Child Programme

Contact Officer(s)  details Julie Murray julie.murray@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 3343

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Review of Health Services for Children Looked After & Safeguarding in Sefton - Update on Actions Being Undertaken
	5 Public Health Annual Report
	6 Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Provision Working Group - Final Report
	Enc. 1 for Post-16 Special Educational Needs and Disablity SEND Provision Working Group - Final

	7 Cabinet Member Report
	Appendix A_CSS - June 2019

	8 Work Programme Key Decision Forward Plan
	Appenidx A_ Work Prog 2019-20
	Appendix B_Terms of Reference
	Appendix C_selectioncriteria
	Appendix D_KDFP


